

Antiradical Methods in Evaluating Antioxidant Potential of Preparations of Plant Origin

Anna Gramza-Michalowska

The Agricultural University of Poznan, Department of Food Technology and Human Nutrition, Wojska Polskiego 31, 60-624 Poznan, Poland *Correspondence*: angramza@au.poznan.pl

ABSTRACT

The formula for antioxidants is very difficult to define, although they had been used in food for centuries. Antioxidants are compounds used to delay the accumulation of free radicals and strengthen the oxidative stability of food. According to the activity mechanism of antioxidants, they can act by means of many different processes. The properties of antioxidants are also the result of many factors, like mixing ability and activity in different reaction environment systems, stability in processing time, as well as research methods used. However, there exist limitations concerning the use of these substances. Research reflects much interest on the influence of radicals generated by different environmental factors on human health and food stability, but there is still a need to find the substances that have wide antiradical properties. There are many methods for evaluating antiradical activity. This manuscript discusses the most popular and adequate methods. Widely used parameters of free radical scavenging ability as well as the evaluation of antioxidant potential are reactions with ABTS⁺⁺ and DPPH⁺ radicals, the luminol chemiluminescence method, ORAC, FRAP, TRAP and many other assays. The aim of the comparison of these methods and this review is to qualify the effectiveness of different natural substances as scavengers possessing antiradical activity.

Keywords: free radicals

Abbreviations: ESR, Electron Spin Resonance Spectroscopy; FRAP, ferric reducing antioxidant power; ORAC, Oxygen radical absorbance capacity; TEAC, Trolox Equivalent Antioxidant Capacity; TAA, Total Antioxidant Activity; DPPH, 1,1-diphenylo-2-picrylhydrazyl; ABTS, 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenz-thiazoline-6-sulfonic acid); ABTS⁺⁺, radical cation; ABAP, 2,2'-azo-bis(2-amidinopropane); AAPH, 2,2'-azobis(2-amidinpropane) dihydro chloride; DMPO, 5,5-dimethyl-1-pyrroline N-oxide, DMSO, dimethylsulfoxide; DMF, *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide; Trolox, 2-hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
FREE RADICALS	
ANTIOXIDANTS	
METHODS TO MEASURE RADICAL SCAVENGING	
TEAC - TROLOX EQUIVALENT ANTIOXIDANT CAPACITY	
DPPH	
CHEMILUMINESCENCE	
ESR - ELECTRON SPIN RESONANCE SPECTROSCOPY	
FRAP - FERRIC REDUCING ANTIOXIDANT POWER	
TRAP – TOTAL RADICAL TRAPPING POTENTIAL	
ORAC - OXYGEN RADICAL ABSORBANCE CAPACITY	
CONCLUDING REMARKS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Antioxidants and their activity are very interesting and still an undiscovered field of much research. The antioxidative properties of constituents of plant origin have been well known for centuries, but had never been of so much interest to scientists. Today, there is much scientific research aimed at proving plant origin of constituents with antioxidant activity (Brahmchari 2006). There is much evidence about the key role of oxidative stress in aging and in different diseases. What is the most important for consumers is that food rich in plant products offers protection against many degenerative diseases, a result of their free radical activity (Ames *et al.* 1993; Halliwell 1994).

One of the fastest developing fields of research consists

of examining the role of radicals in the activity of biological systems and their influence and etiology of many diseases (Larson 1988; Gordon 1996). Research of antioxidant activity of plant components uses radicals, defined as substance possessing one or more unpaired electrons on its orbital (Brand-Williams *et al.* 1995).

Increasing attention to the community has been directed into food intake habits, resulting in higher care for health and nutritional aspects. There are numerous antiradical methods that can be used for antioxidant activity evaluation of many components, especially of plant origin (Miller and Rice-Evans 1994; Re *et al.* 1999; Zieliński and Kozłowska 1999; Schwarz *et al.* 2001; Gramza-Michalowska and Bajerska-Jarzebowska 2007). Plant extracts are rich in components with radical scavenging ability. One of those groups are the polyphenols (Acker *et al.* 1996; Mensor *et al.* 2001). Research on the antioxidative activity of plant extracts in model systems is very important, especially when considering their further use in food stabilization. Scavenging of free radicals is one of the generally accepted mechanisms of delaying the lipid oxidation process (Frankel 1998; Squadriato and Peyor 1998). This process is based on reactions involving characteristic radicals with specific substances, and resulting in the formation of products easy to identify and to quantify.

There are many opposing theories for the antiradical activity of analyzed samples. Methods to measure antioxidative activity differ with the manner in which free radicals are generated, the kind and accompanying conditions, making difficult to compare the results achieved by different authors (Arnao 2000; Alonso *et al.* 2002; Huang *et al.* 2005; Zhang *et al.* 2006).

Assays for antiradical activity measurements suitable for simple and non-complex products could possibly fail in the presence of complex products, composed of a number of substances, possessing intensifying or masking features (Huang *et al.* 2005). That is why one fast, simple and reliable method is essential to obtain the univocal power of an antioxidant.

The evaluation of antioxidant potential in samples is conducted with the use of various tests based on: a) the inhibition of lipid oxidation in accelerated conditions, based on monitoring of the lipid oxidation process (Wasowicz *et al.* 2004; Singh *et al.* 2006); b) scavenging of radicals in which there is a simulation of basic mechanisms occurring during the oxidation process, measurement of the reduction of stabile radicals or radicals generated in different ways, such as radiolysis, photolysis or the Fenton reaction.

This paper reviews the most popular methods for determining total antioxidant capacity in different biological and chemical substances as a measure of free radical scavenging activity.

FREE RADICALS

Free radicals are very unstable molecules, reacting quickly with other compounds, capturing the needed electron to gain stability (Prior and Cao 1999; Sanchez-Moreno 2002; Huang *et al.* 2005). Highly reactive free radicals contain odd electrons with no formal charge. Free radicals attack the nearest stable molecule, taking its electron. A molecule with a lost electron becomes a free radical itself, beginning a chain reaction. Once the process is started, it becomes a chain reaction, finally resulting in the oxidation processes of different constituents and also the living cell.

Free radicals are normally generated in the body during metabolic processes. A healthy body can handle free radicals, although if free-radical generation becomes excessive and antioxidants are not available, damage could occur. Free radicals are considered important factors in biological aging (Ames et al. 1993), and could cause the cell's destruction. According to Harmon's free radical theory of aging, cells are continuously producing free radicals, further damaging or even killing the cells (Harmon 1956). Reactions of free radicals are catalyzed by heat, light, trace metals, other free radicals and the presence of peroxides. Inhibition of those reactions proceeds by the presence of antioxidants - the radical acceptors reacting with other free radicals (Frankel 1998). Usually free radicals are inactivated in vivo by a group of different antioxidants (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1990). However a relative deficiency of antioxidant defense in the body may lead to an increase of oxidative stress, and consequently the pathogenesis of various diseases (Emerit 1994; Rice-Evans and Burdon 1994; Frei 1995; Gutteridge 1995; Knight 1995). Antioxidant activity is mainly due to its redox properties, playing an important role in neutralizing free radicals, quenching singlet oxygen or decomposing hydroperoxides (Osawa 1994). The autoxidation process is mainly caused by radical chain reaction between certain substrates and oxygen. It was found that

effective dietary antioxidants can scavenge reactive oxygen/ nitrogen species (ROS/RNS) to stop the radical chain reaction, or inhibit the reactive oxidants from being formed (Wasowicz *et al.* 2004; Huang *et al.* 2005).

Consequently, there is increasing interest in the mechanisms of antioxidant protection against free-radical-induced injury and in identification of suitable indicators for measuring antioxidant capacity.

ANTIOXIDANTS

Although antioxidants had been used in food preparing and production for many centuries it is still difficult to define. Antioxidants are compounds used to delay the accumulation of free radicals and strengthen the oxidative stability of food (Halliwell and Guttherige 1995). According to the activity mechanism antioxidants divided into (Frankel 1998):

- primary antioxidants (donors), which action depends on peroxide inactivation by annexation to free radicals of fatty acid, interrupting the reaction sequence,
- secondary antioxidants (acceptors), protecting lipids by binding the oxygen in air or by delaying lipid oxidation as a result of different processes other than breaking of autoxidation chain reaction.

They can act by (Gordon 1990; Yanishlieva-Maslarowa 2001):

- a. complexing metal ions that catalyze the autoxidation process, i.e. chelators;
- b. primarily partially regenerating antioxidants;
- c. creating a protective border between the oil and air surface;
- d. oxygen scavenging;
- e. decomposing peroxides and nonradical products;
- f. absorbing UV radiation;
- g. quenching singlet oxygen.

There is much research interest in the radicals generated by different environmental factors that influence human health and food stability, but there is still a need to find substances that have antiradical properties. There are many factors influencing antiradical activity e.g. mixing ability and activity in different solvents and stability in measuring time (Hooulihan and Ho 1985; Giese 1996; Gramza and Korczak 2005; Pokorny 2007).

Food products of plant origin are rich sources of natural antioxidative compounds (Niwa and Miyachi 1986; Yokozawa *et al.* 1998; Rababah *et al.* 2004). There are, however, a number of limitations, like carrying specific taste, scent and colour, temperature and light sensitivity, expensive production costs (Houlihan and Ho 1985; Pokorny 1991). For example average cost of green tea ethanol extract was nearly 40\$ per 1 gram of the extract and rosemary extract nearly 20\$ (Gramza-Michalowska, unpublished data). Extracts cleaning procedures resulted in extracts costs decrease for about 100%.

Today's world is in need for a search of new sources of antioxidant substances (Boskou 2006), accessible from the everyday diet, positively influencing unfavorable aging processes in the human body.

METHODS TO MEASURE RADICAL SCAVENGING

Over the past years a number of methods have been reported (**Table 1**). The appropriateness and correctness of a chosen method needs an interpretation on the basis of the source of the oxidative stress and the changes measured.

TEAC – TROLOX EQUIVALENT ANTIOXIDANT CAPACITY

The Trolox Equivalent Antioxidant Capacity (TEAC) assay was first proposed by Miller and Rice-Evans (1994). It is based on the spectrophotometric measurement of cationradical ABTS⁺⁺ (2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenz-thiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) concentration changes in comparison to radical scavenging by Trolox. The oxidant ABTS⁺⁺, is generated by

Table 1 Comparison of different radicals scavenging activity measurements.

Method	Determination value	References
DPPH.	scavenging effect [%]	Yen and Chen 1995; Satoh et al. 2005; Katalinic et al. 2006;
	inhibition effect [%]	Aoshima and Ayabe 2007; Chen et al. 2007; Druzynska et al.
		2007; Gramza-Michalowska et al. 2007; Liu and Yao 2007
	IC ₅₀ [mg/mL]	Trouillas et al. 2003
	inhibitory concentration of sample necessary to reduce the absorbance of	Sokmen et al. 2004
	DPPH by 50%	
	AEAC [mg/100 g]	Chan et al. 2007
	(Ascorbic Acid Equivalent Antioxidant Capacity)	
	AE	Sanchez-Moreno et al. 1998; Sun and Ho 2001; Atoui et al.
	(Antiradical Efficiency) standard equivalents (quercetin, Trolox) concentration EC_{50} needed to reach the steady state in TEC_{50} time	2005; Gramza et al. 2005
	[µM DPPH scavenged]	Soler-Rivas et al. 2000
ABTS ^{+•}	TAA or TEAC [mM Trolox equivalents]	Majchrzak et al. 2004; Ivanova et al. 2005; Stewart et al. 2005
	(Total Antioxidant Activity or Trolox Equivalent Antioxidant Activity)	•
	scavenging of ABTS radical [%]	Katalinic et al. 2006; Druzynska et al. 2007
	inhibition of radical [%]	
	EC ₅₀ [mg Trolox/mg ABTS]	Atoui et al. 2005
	concentration needed to reach the steady state in TEC ₅₀ time	
CL*	[µM Trolox/g]	Triantis et al. 2005
	IC ₅₀ [µg/ml]	Atoui et al. 2005
	inhibitory concentration of sample necessary to reduce the	
	chemiluminecence by 50%	
FRAP	[µM eq Trolox/100 mL]	Bravo et al. 2007
	[mg eq Gallic acid/g]	Chan et al. 2007
	[mg eq Catechin/g]	Agbor et al. 2005
	$[\mu M Fe^2/L]$	Jin-Weia et al. 2005; Katalinic et al. 2006
	$[\mu M Fe^2/g]$	
ORAC	[µM Trolox eq/g]	Zheng and Wang 2001; Henning et al. 2003; Price et al. 2006;
		Wojcikowski et al. 2007

* CL - chemilumiescence

persulfate oxidation of ABTS²⁻. Incubation of ABTS with peroxidase (metmioglobine) and hydrogen peroxide generates stabile, blue-green cation-radical ABTS⁺⁺, which absorbance reduction is measurable at λ =734 nm (Miller and Rice-Evans 1996; Lemanska *et al.* 2001; Bompadre *et al.* 2004). Antioxidant activity is defined by Trolox concentration [mM], possessing antioxidant activity equal to 1.0 mM/L of examined substance. Antioxidant activity is defined similarly by two different expressions: TEAC, a value expressed for pure substances and TAA, or Total Antioxidant Activity, a value expressed for extracts.

A commercialized $ABTS^{++}$ radical cation method is the Randox test - Total Antioxidant Status. It consist of an antioxidant power evaluation kit (Randox[®]) based on $ABTS^{++}$ radical scavenging ability (Alonso *et al.* 2002). Measurement is conducted during the reaction of ddH₂O, Trolox and sample with chromogene inside (metmioglobin + ABTS), at a 0 and 3 min period, at 37°C. It is very useful tool for rapid screening the antioxidative capacity of examined materials.

TEAC assay with ABTS and metmyoglobin is based on oxidation of ABTS in presence of H₂O₂ and metmyoglobin to the radical cation ABTS⁺⁺, measured photometrically at 734 nm (Miller *et al.* 1993). A modification of the above method proposed by Miller et al. (1996), where the ABTS radical cation was filtered by manganese dioxide powder, than diluted with phosphate buffer saline. Solutions of ABTS^{•+} and sample were centrifuged and the absorbance of the lower phase was measured at 734 nm. Results were expressed as % of antioxidant activity. Third modification of ABTS assay was published by Re et al. (1999). The ABTS stock solution was mixed with potassium persulfate and left for 12 h, until the reaction is complete. For measurements ABTS⁺⁺ solution was diluted with water (hydrophilic assay) or ethanol (lipophilic assay) and measured at 734 nm. This method does not require a controlled temperature, nevertheless it leads to reliable and easy to repeat results.

DPPH

A generally used method for the measurement of free radicals scavenging by plant extracts. DPPH method is based on spectrophotometric measurement of stabile radical DPPH changes (1,1-diphenylo-2-picrylhydrazyl). An ethanol or methanolic solution of DPPH is violet in colour, which disappears in the presence of antioxidants (AH), resulting in a decrease in absorbance (Brand-Williams *et al.* 1995).

DPPH' + AH > DPPH-H + A'

The decrease in absorbance is a result of radical scavenging by antioxidants, and the faster the decrease in absorbance, the stronger the antioxidant, having stronger hydrogen donation ability (Yen and Duh 1994; Yen and Chen 1995). The concentration of residual DPPH' radical is evaluated on its starting concentration in the system and its concentration after *t*-time. Antiradical activity is measured using two possibilities: a) after 30 min of incubation or different periods the absorbance is measured ($\lambda = 517$ nm), and evaluated as percentage of antioxidant activity; b) antioxidant activity may also be evaluated by absorbance measurements until a plateau phase is reached ($\lambda = 517$ nm).

The range of antioxidants' activity is termed the AE parameter (Antiradical Efficiency) (Sanchez-Moreno et al. 1998; Gramza et al. 2005). Absorbance decrease of different extracts concentrations in ethanol solution of DPPH' are measured continuously with data capturing at 1 min intervals on spectrophotometer, until reaction reached plateau. The remaining DPPH (%) is plotted to obtain the amount of antioxidant needed to decrease the initial radicals concentration by 50%. Time needed to reach the steady state to EC_{50} concentration (T_{EC50}) is calculated graphically. Higher the antioxidant ability of studied sample, lower the EC_{50} value. The absorbance decrease is a result of the antioxidants contained in the studied extracts radical scavenging ability. The faster the absorption decreases, the stronger antioxidant, possessing higher ability of hydrogen donation (Yen and Duh 1994). Taking into account that, EC_{50} and T_{EC50} , affect samples antiradical capacity, it was defined as:

 $AE = 1 / EC_{50} * T_{EC50}$

Antiradical efficiency parameter allowed the extracts differentiation into antiradical activity groups:

$$AE = 1 * 10^{-3}$$
low antiradical activity
 $1 * 10^{-3} < AE = 5 * 10^{-3}$ medium antiradical activity
 $5 * 10^{-3} < AE = 10 * 10^{-3}$ high antiradical activity
 $AE > 10 * 10^{-3}$ very high antiradical activity

CHEMILUMINESCENCE

One of free radicals and excitated particles measurements method is chemiluminescence (CL). Reactive oxygen species emit light, possible to be monitored by a luminometer. Emission of the light can be amplified by luminol (L⁻), reacting with hydroxyl peroxide functions (Miyazawa *et al.* 1994). Cobalt (CoCl₂·6H₂O) complexed with EDTA catalyses the hydroxyl radical's formation via Fenton reaction:

 $\begin{array}{l} L^{-} + OH \rightarrow light (430 \text{ nm}) \\ Co^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Co^{3+} + HO^{\bullet} + HO^{\bullet} \\ O_2^{\bullet} + Co^{3+} \rightarrow O_2 + Co^{2+} \end{array}$

On this basis Parejo *et al.* (2000) proposed method which advantages are that chemiluminescence intensity reaches plateau were they remain stable for 30s maximum, being recorded without integrator. The addition of free radical scavenger reduces chemiluminescence intensity, antioxidant results in light emission suppression that lasts until the antioxidant is consumed. Chemiluminescence is very sensitive and could be used for the detection of radicals like: RO', ROO' or HO' (Parejo *et al.* 2000; Triantis *et al.* 2005).

According to method proposed by Triantis et al. (2005) it is expected that antioxidants in reaction with O-benzylacridine would scavenge the superoxide radical anion, leading to reduced light signals, from which antioxidants activity could be estimated. The blanks light reaction starts with adding saturated potassium superoxide solution in DMSO into a mixture of 9-benzylacridine in DMF. Obtained light intensity was compared with light intensities of analyzed samples containing 9-benzylacridine in DMF, sample in DMF and saturated potassium superoxide. The duration of light emission lasts only for few seconds. Antioxidant activity expressed as micromoles of Trolox equivalents per gram of fresh weight. Other authors used lucygenin and alkaline hydrogen peroxide to start the chemiluminescence's reaction (Parejo et al. 2000; Papadopoulos et al. 2003). A method published by Atanassova et al. (2005) proposed using the boric acid buffer, Co (II), EDTA and luminol mixed with H_2O_2 as the reaction mixture to measure the chemiluminescence intensity. For calibration the caffeic acid was used. Atoui et al. (2005) have used Trolox as a calibration agent. The antioxidant activity was expressed as antioxidant efficiency (AE), in quercetin or Trolox equivalents by comparing IC_{50} of the herbal extracts with IC_{50} of the standards.

A less popular method for evaluation of antioxidative activity is use of the Photochem (Analytic Jena AG). Measurement is based on light and photosensitizer presence generated anion-radicals reaction with cheminoluminogenic substance. The intensity of emitted light is a measure of free radicals in the examined system (Popov and Lewin 1999). Radical quenchers reduce photochemiluminescence intensity, proportionally to examined antioxidant concentration and activity. Reaction is based on optical excitation of a photosensitizer S which results in the generation of the superoxide radical O_2^{-1} .

 $S + hv + O_2 \rightarrow [S'O_2] \rightarrow S'' + O_2''$

Free radicals are visualized with luminol, a chemiluminescent detection reagent (Schlesier *et al.* 2002). Operating principles are based on a standardized volume of photosensitizer substance added to the assay medium. The photosensitizer is optically excited to produce superoxide anion radical, partially scavenged by the sample (antioxidative compounds). Remaining radicals are quantified by luminescence generation; antioxidants are quantified by comparison with a standard: Trolox or Ascorbic acid. Results of the above experiments are expressed as mg equivalents of Trolox or Ascorbic acid per 1 gram (1 mL) of sample.

lox or Ascorbic acid per I gram (1 mL) of sample. Using the Photochem[®] fast, easy and reliable determination of antioxidative capacity in water-soluble and lipidsoluble samples is measured (Zhai *et al.* 2003).

Chemiluminescence methods are difficult when the quantity of antioxidative activity must be evaluated. It is resulted because of radical's short time lifetime, it is also not known what kind of radicals are eliminated by the anti-oxidant (Ogawa *et al.* 1999).

ESR - ELECTRON SPIN RESONANCE SPECTROSCOPY

Electron Spin Resonance Spectroscopy is based on hydroxyl radical scavenging ability, generated during the Fenton reaction, in the presence of DMPO (5,5-dimethyl-1-pyr-roline N-oxide). The antioxidant ability to scavenge Fremy's salt (potassium nitrosodisulfonate), a partially stable radical, affects hydrogen donors (Gardner et al. 1999). The procedure consists of a homoarginine solution with DMPO and an aqueous solution of the examined antioxidant, after which the ES spectrum is measured and further compared to homoarginine, as the standard spectrum. It was stated that although the detection of single antioxidant radical species is possible by electron spin resonance (ESR) spin-trapping technique, the evaluation of radical species in complex systems like biological and food samples is usually impossible by ESR (Ogawa et al. 1999). Guo et al. (1999) examined the correlations between ESR and DPPH radicals scavenging activity and chemical structure of tea catechins and found that there were significant differences. The differences between catechins sterical structures played a more important role in their abilities to scavenge large free radicals $(O_2; O_2)$, than DPPH'. In other research Yoshiki *et al.* (2004) have examined potential relationship between photon emission and radical scavenging activity. Photon intensity measured with ESR showed a high correlation with chemopreventive activity against DPPH radical.

FRAP - FERRIC REDUCING ANTIOXIDANT POWER

The method of ferric reducing antioxidant power is based on the ability to measure the reduction of the TPTZ complex (Fe(III)-2,4,6-tri(2-pirydyl)-s-triazine) to an Fe(II)-TPTZ form, by reductant (antioxidant). The intensity of the generated blue colored complex is measured colorimetrically ($\lambda = 593$ nm) and is positively correlated with the reducer-antioxidant concentration (Benzie and Strain 1999). The FRAP assay is carried under acidic conditions (pH 3.6) and it involves the following procedure: TPTZ in HCl, acetate buffer and FeCl3*H2O mixed, and named FRAP reagent. The oxidant is not only Fe(III)(TPTZ)₂, it also contains other Fe(II) species, that could lead to problems as many metal chelators in extract could bind Fe(III) and for capable of reacting with antioxidants complexes (Huang et al. 2005). Freshly prepared FRAP reagent is warmed to 37°C and reagent blank is measured at $\lambda = 593$ nm, then the sample and water are added. Unfortunately the presented method does not take into account substances that do not possess the ability to reduce Fe(III). It is a fast, easy and reproducible method to evaluate antiradical activity of examined single antioxidants in pure solution and antioxidants mixtures (Benzie and Strain 1999). FRAP needs basic equipment of chemical laboratory and rather inexpensive, procedure reagents.

 Table 2 Antioxidant activity of tea extracts measured by several radical scavenging methods.

Method		Green tea	Black tea
DPPH'	Scavenging [%]	49.7 c; 90.8 k; 90.9 m	38.02 c; 81.7 k; 52.8 m
	IC ₅₀ [µg/mL]	0.030 d; 4.14 g	27.02 g
	EC_{50} [µg/mL]	120-320 e	230-750 e
	AE (antiradical efficiency)	6.65 f; 349.16 p	5.57 f; 390.12 p
ABTS	TEAC or TAA [mM]	5.91 a; 21.6 n	3.92 a; 17.6 n
ORAC	[µM Trolox/g]	627.14 i; 1477 h	811 h
FRAP	[µM Trolox/100 mL]	1430.1 b	697.4 b
	[mg/g]	54.55 d	-
TRAP	[µM Trolox/mL]	14 j	-
	AC [mM]	17.85 o	3.54 o
CL	IC ₅₀	0.17 f	0.18 f

According to: a - Ivanowa et al. 2005; b - Bravo et al. 2007; c - Chen et al. 2007; d - Chan et al. 2007; e - du Toit et al. 2001; f - Atoui et al. 2005; g - Yokozawa et al. 1998; h - Henning et al. 2003; i - Wojcikowski et al. 2007; j - Gil et al. 1996; k - von Gadow et al. 1997; m - Aoshima and Ayabe 2007; n - Majchrzak et al. 2004; o - Serafini et al. 1996; p - Gramza et al. 2005.

TRAP – TOTAL RADICAL TRAPPING POTENTIAL

A method developed by Wayner *et al.* (1985) is based on the measurement of induction time in the oxidation of lipids exposed to a free radical source in aerobic conditions. As the free radical source is the pyrolitic decomposition of ABAP (2,2'-azo-bis(2-amidinopropane) in an aqueous phase, the consumption of oxygen is linked as an endpoint. There are many modifications, employing different radicals or monitoring techniques (Whitehead *et al.* 1992; Lissi *et al.* 1999).

Other research examined the fluorescence of R-Phycoerythrin, which is quenched by ABAP (2,2'-azo-bis(2-amidinopropane)hydrochloride) as radical generator at 37°C. Antioxidants inhibit oxidation of R-Phycoerythrin, thus delay the fluorescence decrease. The antioxidative activity was expressed as the lag phase (Wayner *et al.* 1985).

ORAC - OXYGEN RADICAL ABSORBANCE CAPACITY

Oxygen radical absorbance capacity method uses the ability of the protein β -PE (beta-phycoerythrin) to fluorescence (λ = 540 nm). Thermal decomposition of AAPH (2,2'-azobis(2-amidinpropane) dihydrochloride) leads to the generation of peroxide radicals, which, by destroying the protein structure results in reduced fluorescence, proportional to radical concentration (Cao *et al.* 1993). An examined extract or any other constituent can protect the protein by radical scavenging, according to its antioxidant activity. Results are expressed as ORAC units, where one unit equals the net protection of 1 μ M Trolox. Measurements in the change in fluorescence help to evaluate oxygen radical scavenging. ORAC is a simple, sensitive and reliable method.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Most antiradical activity evaluation methods rely on reactions with radicals and their inactivation degree by the addition of pure antioxidative substances or mixtures. According to different methods free radicals are generated by an enzymatic, photochemical or chemical reaction, and to measure antioxidants effectivity spectrophotometric, chemiluminescence and electron paramagnetic resonance are used. Very often authors use the same methods, but do not use this same initial radical concentrations and reaction times (**Table 2**). Most of the assays, suitable for non-complex mixtures or chemical compounds, could partially fail to obtain good reproducibility when more complex biological samples are used, some of which possess masking features like proteins or pigments (Keogh *et al.* 2007).

Presented methods are inadequate for fast measurements of different substances. Antiradical activity measurement methods differ with the manner and kind of radical generation, resulting in differences in comparisons with other authors' results. An extremely important factor is also the different criteria to evaluate the degree to which a radical's reaction advances. Investigating the differences between presented methods it inevitably conduces to almost impossible comparisons of very often inconsistent results. The major problem is a lack of a validated measurement method that would reliably evaluate the antiradical capacity of different samples. Unfortunately also the differences between antioxidant activities of plant extracts may be a result of plants varietals, antioxidants quantity and quality in scavenging ability of different radicals or reactive oxygen species. Antioxidant analytical methodologies are developing rapidly, giving new methods every year. That is why the total antiradical activity needs to be interpreted according to oxidative stress source and its impact measurement.

REFERENCES

- Acker SABE, Bast A, van der Vijgh WJF (1996) Structural aspects of antioxidant activity of flavonoids. In: Rice-Evans CA, Parker L (Eds) *Flavonoids in Health and Diseases*, Marcel Dekker, NY, pp 221-251
- Agbor GA, Oben JE, Ngogang JY, Xinxing C, Vinson J (2005) Antioxidant capacity of some herbs/spices from Cameroon: A comparative study of two methods. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53, 6819-6824
- Alonso AM, Dominguez C, Guillen DA, Barroso CG (2002) Determination of antioxidant power of red and white wines by a new electrochemical method and its correlation with polyphenolic content. *Journal of the Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 50, 3112-3115
- Ames BM, Shigens MK, Hagen TM (1993) Oxidants, antioxidants and the degenerative diseases of aging. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 90, 7915-7922
- Aoshima H, Ayabe S (2007) Prevention of the deterioration of polyphenol-rich beverages. *Food Chemistry* 100, 350-355
- Arnao MB (2000) Some methodological problems in the determination of antioxidant activity using chromogen radicals: a practical case. Food Science and Technology 11, 419-421
- Atanassova NN, Walker M, McKinnell C, Fisher JS, Sharpe RM (2005) Evidence that androgens and estrogens, as well as follicle-stimulating hormone, can alter Steroli cell number in the neonatal rat. *Journal of Endocrinology* 184, 107-117
- Atoui AK, Mansouri A, Boskou G, Kefalas P (2005) Tea and herbal infusions: their antioxidant activity and phenolic profile. *Food Chemistry* **89**, 27-36
- Benzie I, Strain J (1999) Ferric reducing/antioxidant power assay: direct measure of total antioxidant activity of biological fluids and modified version for simultaneous measurement of total antioxidant power and ascorbic acid concentration. *Methods in Enzymology* 299, 15-27
- Bompadre S, Leone L, Politi A, Battino M (2004) Improved FIA-ABTS method for antioxidant capacity determination in different biological samples. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **38**, 831-838
- Boskou D (2006) Sources of natural phenolic antioxidants. Trends in Food Science and Technology 17, 505-512
- Brahmchari G (2006) Antioxidants of flowering plants. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues (1st Edn, Vol IV), Global Science Books, London, pp 373-378
- Brand-Williams W, Cuvelier ME, Berset C (1995) Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. *Lebensmittel Wissenshaft und Technologie* 28, 25-30
- Bravo L, Goya L, Lecumberri E (2007) LC/MS characterization of phenolic constituents of mate (*Ilex paraguariensis*, St. Hil.) and its antioxidant activity compared to commonly consumed beverages. *Food Research International* 40, 393-405
- Cao G, Alessio HM, Cutler RG (1993) Oxygen-radical absorbance capacity assay for antioxidants. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 14, 303-311

- Chan EWC, Lim YY, Chew YL (2007) Antioxidant activity of Camellia sinensis leaves and tea from a lowland plantation in Malaysia. Food Chemistry 102, 1214-1222
- Chen HY, Lin YC, Hsieh CL (2007) Evaluation of antioxidant activity of aqueous extract of some selected nutraceutical herbs. *Food Chemistry* 104, 1418-1424
- du Toit R, Volsteedt Y, Apostolides Z (2001) Comparison of the antioxidant content of fruits, vegetables and teas measured as vitamin C equivalents. *Toxicology* 166, 63-69
- **Druzynska B, Stepniewska A, Wolosiak R** (2007) The influence of time and type of solvent on efficiency of the extraction of polyphenols from green tea and antioxidant properties obtained extracts. *Acta Scientarum Polonorum Technologia Alimentaria* **6(1)**, 27-36
- Emerit I (1994) Reactive oxygen species, chromosome mutation, and cancer: possible role of clastogenic factors in carcinogenesis. *Free Radical Biology* and Medicine 16, 99-109
- Frankel EN (Ed) (1998) Free radical oxidation. In: Lipid Oxidation, The Oily Press Ltd., Scotland, pp 13-22
- Frei B (1995) Cardiovascular disease and nutrient antioxidants: role of lowdensity lipoprotein oxidation. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 35, 83-98
- Gardner PT, McPhail DB, Crozier A, Duthie GG (1999) ESR spectroscopic assessment of the contribution of quercitin and other flavonols to the antioxidant capacity of red wines. *Journal of Science and Food Agriculture* **79**, 1011-1014
- Giese J (1996) Antioxidants: tools for preventing lipid oxidation. *Food Technology* **11**, 73-79
- Gill MI, Tomas-Barberan FA, Hess-Pierce B, Holcroft DM, Kader AA (2000) Antioxidant activity of pomegranate juice and its relationship with phenolic composition and processing. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 48, 4581-4589
- **Gordon MH** (1990) The mechanism of antioxidant action *in vitro*. In: Hudson BJF (Ed) *Food Antioxidants*, Elsevier Applied Science, London, pp 1-8
- Gordon MH (1996) Dietary antioxidants in disease prevention. Natural Products Report 13, 265-273
- Gramza A, Korczak J (2005) Tea constituents (Camellia sinensis L.) as antioxidants in lipid systems. Trends in Food Science and Technology 16, 351-358
- Gramza A, Pawlak-Lemanska K, Korczak J, Wasowicz E, Rudzinska M (2005) Tea extracts as free radical scavengers. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies* 14, 153-157
- Gramza-Michałowska A, Bajerska-Jarzebowska J (2007) Leaves of Camellia sinensis: Ordinary brewing plant or super antioxidant source? Food 1, 56-64
- Gramza-Michałowska A, Korczak J, Hes M (2007) Purification process influence on green tea extracts' polyphenol content and antioxidant activity. *Acta Scientiarum Polonorum Technologia Alimentaria* 6(2), 41-48
- Guo O, Zhao B, Shen S, Hou J, Hu J, Xin W (1999) ESR study on the structure-antioxidant activity relationship of tea catechins and their epimers. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1427, 13-23
- Gutteridge JM (1995) Lipid peroxidation and antioxidants as biomarkers of tissue damage. *Clinical Chemistry* **41**, 1819-1828
- Halliwell B (1994) Free radicals, antioxidants and human disease: Curiosity, cause or consequence. *Lancet* 344, 721-724
- Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC (1990) The antioxidants of human extracellular fluids. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 280, 1-8
- Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC (1995) The definition and measurement of antioxidants in biological systems. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 18, 125-126
- Harmon D (1956) Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. Journal of Gerontology 11, 298-300
- Henning SM, Fajardo-Lira C, Lee HW, Youssefian AA, Go VLW, Heber D (2003) Catechin content of 18 teas and a green tea extract supplement correlates with the antioxidant capacity. *Nutrition and Cancer* **45**, 226-235
- Huang D, Ou B, Prior R (2005) The chemistry behind the antioxidant capacity assays. *Journal of the Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53, 1841-1856
- Houlihan CM, Ho CT (1985) Natural antioxidants. In: Min DB, Smouse TH (Eds) *Flavor Chemistry of Fats and Oils*, American Oil Chemist's Society, Champaign, IL, pp 117-143
- Ivanova D, Gerova D, Chervenkov T, Yankova T (2005) Polyphenols and antioxidant capacity of Bulgarian medicinal plants. *Journal of Ethnophar*macology 96, 45-150
- Jin-Weia L, Shao-Dongb D, Xiao-Lina D (2005) Comparison of antioxidant capacities of extracts from five cultivars of Chinese jujube. *Process Biochemistry* 40, 3607-3613
- Katalinic V, Milos M, Kulisic T, Jukic M (2006) Screening of 70 medicinal plant extracts for antioxidant capacity and total phenols. *Food Chemistry* 94, 550-557
- Keogh JB, McInerney J, Clifton PM (2007) The effect of milk protein on the bioavailability of cocoa polyphenols. *Journal of Food Science* 72, 230-233
- Knight JA (1995) Diseases related to oxygen-derived free radicals. Annals of Clinical Laboratory Science 25, 111-121
- Larson RA (1988) The antioxidants of higher plants. Phytochemistry 27, 969-

978

- Lemanska K, Szymusiak H, Tyrakowska B, Zielinski R, Soffers AEMF, Rietjens IMCM (2001) The influence of pH on antioxidant properties and the mechanism of antioxidant action of hydroxyflavones. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **31**, 869-881
- Lissi E, Salim-Hanna M, Pascual C, del Castillo MD (1995) Evaluation of total antioxidant potential (TRAP) and total antioxidant reactivity from luminol enhanced chemiluminescence measurements. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 18, 153-1581995
- Liu Q, Yao H (2007) Antioxidant activities of barley seeds extracts. Food Chemistry 102, 732-737
- Majchrzak D, Mitter S, Elmadfa I (2004) The effect of ascorbic acid on total antioxidant activity of black and green teas. *Food Chemistry* 88, 447-451
- Mensor LL, Menezes FS, Leitão GG, Reis AS, dos Santos TC, Coube CS, Leitão SG (2001) Screening of Brazilian plant extacts for antioxidant activity by the use of DPPH free radical method. *Phytotherapy Research* 15, 127-130
- Miller NJ, Rice-Evans CA (1994) Total antioxidant status in plasma and body fluids. *Methods in Enzymology* 234, 279-293
- Miller NJ, Rice-Evans CA (1996) Spectrophotometric determination of antioxidant activity. *Redox Report* 2, 161-171
- Miller NJ, Rice-Evans CA, Davies MJ, Gopinathan V, Milner A (1993) A novel method for measuring antioxidant capacity and its application to monitoring the antioxidant status in premature neonates. *Clinical Science* 84, 407-412
- Miyazawa T, Fujimoto K, Suzuki T, Yasuda K (1994) Determination of phospholipid hydroperoxides using luminol chemiluminescence high performance liquid chromatography. *Methods in Enzymology* 233, 324-332
- Niwa Y, Miyachi Y (1986) Antioxidant action of natural health products and Chinese herbs. *Inflammation* **10**, 79-91
- Ogawa A, Arai H, Tanizawa H, Miyahara T, Toyo'oka (1999) On-line screening method or antioxidants by liquid chromatography with chemiluminescence detection. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 383, 221-230
- Osawa T (1994) Novel natural antioxidants for utilization in food and biological systems. In: Uritani I, Garcia VV, Mendoza EM (Eds) Postharvest Biochemistry of Plant Food – Materials in the Topics, Japan Scientific Societies Press, Tokyo, pp 241-251
- Papadopoulos K, Triantis T, Yannakopoulou E, Nikokavoura A, Dimotikali D (2003) Comparative studies on the antioxidant activity of aqueous extracts of olive oils and seed oils using chemiluminescence. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 494, 41-47
- Parejo I, Codina C, Petrakis C, Kefalas P (2000) Evaluation of scavenging activity assessed by Co(II)EDTA – induced luminol chemiluminescence and DPPH (2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl) free radical assay. *Journal of Pharma*cological and Toxicological Methods 44, 507-512
- Pokorny J (1991) Natural antioxidants for food use. Trends in Food Science and Technology 9, 223-227
- Pokorny J (2007) Are natural antioxidants better and safer than synthetic antioxidants? European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology 109, 629-642
- Popov I, Lewin G (1999) Antioxidative homeostasis: characterisation by means of chemiluminescent technique. *Methods in Enzymology* 300, 437-456
- Price JA, Sanny CG, Shevlin D (2006) Application of manual assessment of oxygen radical absorbent capacity (ORAC) for use in high throughput assay of "total" antioxidant activity of drugs and natural products. *Journal of Phar*macological and Toxicological Methods 54, 56-61
- Prior RL, Cao G (1999) In vivo total antioxidant capacity: Comparison of different analytical methods. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 27, 1173-1181
- Rababah TM, Hettiarachchy NS, Horax R (2004) Total phenolics and antioxidant activities of Fenugreek, Green tea, black tea, grape seed, ginger, rosemary, gotu kola, and ginko extracts, vitamin E, and tert-butylhydroquinone. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 52, 5183-5186
- Re R, Pellegrini N, Proteggente A, Pannala A, Yang M, Rice-Evans C (1999) Antioxidant activity applying an improved ABTS radical cation decolorization assay. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **26**, 1231-1237
- Rice-Evans CA, Burdon RH (1994) Formation of free radicals and mechanism of action in normal biochemical processes and pathological states. In: Rice-Evans CA, Burdon RH (Eds) *Free Radical Damage and its Control*, Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, pp 131-153
- Sanchez-Moreno C, Larrauri JA, Saura-Calixto F (1998) A procedure to measure the antiradical efficiency of polyphenols. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 76, 270-276
- Sanchez-Moreno C (2002) Review: methods used to evaluate the free radical scavenging activity if foods and biological systems. *Food Science and Tech*nology International 8, 121-137
- Satoh E, Tohyama N, Nashimura M (2005) Comparison of the antioxidant activity of roasted tea with green, oolong, and black teas. *International Journal* of Food Sciences and Nutrition 56 (8), 551-559
- Schlesier K, Harwat M, Bohm V, Britsch R (2002) Assessment of antioxidant activity by using different *in vitro* methods. *Free Radical Research* 36, 177-187
- Schwarz K, Bertelsen G, Nissen LR, Gardner PT, Heinoen MI, Hopia A, Huynh-Ba T, Lambelet P, McPhail D, Skibsted LH, Tijburg L (2001) Investigation of plant extracts for the protection of processed foods against lipid oxidation. Comparison of antioxidant assays based on radical scaven-

ging, lipid oxidation and analysis of the principal antioxidant compounds. European Food Research and Technology 212, 319-328

- Serafini M, Ghiselli A, Ferro-Luzzi A (1996) In vivo antioxidant effect of green and black tea in man. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 50, 28-32
- Singh G, Maruya S, Marimuthu P, Teixeira da Silva JA (2006) A review on the applications of essential oils and oleoresins as antioxidant and antimicrobial agents. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) *Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues* (1st Edn, Vol IV), Global Science Books, London, pp 379-386
- Sokmen M, Serkedjieva J, Daferera D, Gulluce M, Polissiou M, Tepe B, Akpulat HA, Sahin F, Sokmen A (2004) *In vitro* antioxidant, antimicrobial, and antiviral activities of the essential oil and various extracts from herbal parts and callus cultures of *Origanum acutidens*. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **52**, 3309-3312
- Soler-Rivas C, Espín JC, Wichers HJ (2000) An easy and fast test to compare total free radical scavenger capacity of foodstuffs. *Phytochemical Analysis* 11, 330-338
- Squadriato GL, Peyor WA (1998) Oxidative chemistry of nitric oxide: the roles of superoxide, peroxynitrite and carbon dioxide. *Free Radical Biology* and Medicine 25, 392-403
- Stewart AJ, Mullen W, Crozier A (2005) On-line high-performance liquid chromatography analysis of the antioxidant activity of phenolic compounds in green and black tea. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research* 49, 52-60
- Sun T, Ho CT (2001) Antiradical efficiency of tea components. Journal of Food Lipids 8, 231-238
- Triantis T, Stelakis A, Dimotikali D, Papadopoulos K (2005) Investigations on the antioxidant activity of fruit and vegetable aqueous extracts on superoxide radical anion using chemiluminescence techniques. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 536, 101-105
- Trouillas P, Calliste CA, Allais DP, Simon A, Marfak A, Delage C, Duroux JL (2003) Antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and antiproliferative properties of sixteen water plant extracts used in the Limousin countryside as herbal teas. *Food Chemistry* 80, 399-407
- von Gadow A, Joubert E, Hansmann CF (1997) Comparison of the antioxidant activity of rooibos tea (*Aspalathus linearis*) with green, oolong and black tea. *Food Chemistry* 60, 73-77

Wasowicz E, Gramza A, Hes M, Jelen HH, Korczak J, Malecka M, Mildner-

Szkudlarz S, Rudzinska M, Samotyja U, Zawirska-Wojtasiak R (2004) Oxidation of lipids in food. *Polish Journal of Food Nutrition and Science* 13, SI 1, 87-100

- Wayner DDM, Burton GW, Ingold KU, Locke S (1985) Quantitative measurement of the total peroxyl radical-trapping capability of human blood plasma by controlled lipid peroxidation. *FEBS Letters* 187, 33-37
- Whitehead TP, Thorpe GHG, Maxwell SRJ (1992) Enhanced chemiluminescent assay for antioxidant capacity in biological fluids. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 266, 265-277
- Wojcikowski K, Stevenson L, Leach D, Wohlmuth H, Gobe G (2007) Antioxidant Capacity of 55 medicinal herbs traditionally used to treat the urinary system: A comparison using a sequential three-solvent extraction process. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine* 13, 103-109
- Yanishlieva-Maslarowa NV (2001) Inhibiting oxidation. In: Pokorny J, Yanishlieva N, Gordon M (Eds) Antioxidants in Food – Practical Applications, CRC Press, Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge, pp 22-70
- Yen GC, Duh PC (1994) Scavenging effect of methanolic extracts of peanut hulls on free-radical and active-oxygen species. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 42, 629-632
- Yen GC, HY Chen (1995) Antioxidant activity of various tea extracts in relation to their mutagenicity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 43, 27-32
- Yokozawa T, Dong E, Nakagawa T, Kashiwagi H, Nakagawa H, Takeuchi S, Chung HY (1998) In vitro and in vivo studies on the radical-scavenging activity of tea. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 46, 2143-2150
- Yoshiki Y, Onda N, Okubo K (2004) Relationship between photon emission and chemopreventive potential of tea. Food Chemistry 87, 269-274
- Zhai H, Choi MJ, Arens-Corell M, Neudecker BA, Maibach H (2003) Method to quantify antioxidative capacity of topical formulations. *Skin Research* and Technology 9, 1-3
- Zhang H, Yang D, Tang G (2006) Multipotent antioxidants: from screening to design. Drug Discovery Today 11, 749-754
- Zheng W, Wang SY (2001) Antioxidant activity and phenolic compounds in selected herbs. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 49, 5165-5170
- Zielinski H, Kozłowska B (1999) Measurement of total antioxidant capacity a review. Polish Journal of Food Nutrition and Science 8, 147-158